**BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals**

**RECEIVED**

APR 10 2025

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Daniel Coble, Circuit Court Judge

Appellant Case No. 2024-001242  
Case No. 2023-CP-400-4408

**Kamarah Reynolds-Hall**

**Appellant,**

v.

**Jammie Robinson, John Dixon,  
Dominic Hill, Joseph Hunter, Anthony  
(AJ) Lawson, Javon Benson, Jahmar  
Brown, Cincere Scott, Jasmine  
Alexander-Coleman, Holder  
Properties, University of South  
Carolina, Defendants,**

**Holder Properties  
University of South Carolina**

**Respondents.**

[REPLY] BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Kamarah Reynolds-Hall  
5 Alatera Court

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 22, 2023, Kamarah Reynolds-Hall, a former student and an aspiring athlete at the University of South Carolina (“USC”), filed a complaint pro se in the Richland County Court of Common Pleas, naming several individuals, USC, and Holder Properties, Inc. (“Holder”) as the defendants. Reynolds-Hall appears to have sued Holder for premises liability, alleging that Holder leased to USC the athletic dorm building located at 650 Lincoln Street in Columbia, SC, in whose stairwell and parking garage the assault took place.

## DISCUSSION

**Part 1-Shows the Premeditated Actions** [https://youtu.be/w\\_eEsABZ9MY](https://youtu.be/w_eEsABZ9MY)

**Part 2-USC Coverup of Assault by Mob Aug 23, 2020** <https://youtu.be/BYHYkoe8XCw>

**Part 3-Jammie Robinson lies to USC PD-University of South Carolina-Cover Up of Assault by Mob** <https://youtu.be/sre9YeMeVHM>

**Part-5-John Dixon Interview** <https://youtu.be/TL7aotENEDw>

[http://youtu.be/fQ5DSH5T\\_ma](http://youtu.be/fQ5DSH5T_ma)

**Argument 1. Did the circuit court properly dismiss the complaint?**

**STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Courts typically favor allowing cases to proceed on their merits, so they may give plaintiffs an opportunity to correct any deficiencies in service before dismissing a case.

(observing that "[t]his Court gives *pro se* parties the benefit of the doubt and may ignore some technical shortcomings of their filings" (citing *Haines*, 404 U.S. at 520, 92 S.Ct. 594);

The appellant would certainly be prejudiced by harsh penalty of dismissal at this stage. As can be seen by the prompt action in the beginning. Plaintiff did not sit on its rights but diligently attempted in good faith to enforce them. See *Pelzer*, 378 S.C. at 521.

A failure to forward a summons and complaint after receiving it does not constitute inadvertence or excusable neglect sufficient to put aside a default judgment. *Roche v. Young Bros. of Florence*, 318 SC 207,210-12, 456 SE2d. 897, 899-901 (1995).

**DISCUSSION**

The Honorable Judge Coble should not have dismissed the complaint for insufficient service of process in the civil action in Case 2023 CP-40-4408. The respondent violated Federal Laws to avoid legal responsibilities to the appellant.

**DISCUSSION**

**18 U.S. Code § 1701 - Obstruction of the mail.** Whoever knowingly and willfully obstructs or retards the passage of the mail, or any carrier or conveyance carrying the mail, **shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than six months, or both.**

**18 U.S. Code § 1702 - Obstruction of correspondence.** Whoever takes any letter, postal card, or package before it has been delivered to the person to whom it was directed, with design to obstruct the correspondence, or to pry into the business or secrets of another, or opens, secretes, embezzles, or destroys the same, **shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than five years, or both.**

**18 U.S.C. § 1703(b) (opening, destroying, or detaining mail without authority)** Whoever, without authority, opens, or destroys any mail or package of newspapers not directed to him, **shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than one year, or both.**

## **Argument 2. The Honorable Judge Coble erred in not imposing Jurisdiction over Holder Properties**

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

#### **Coggeshall v. Reproductive Endocrine Associates of Charlotte**

Doing business in the state can constitute jurisdiction in the state.

It would be unfair to permit a lawsuit in a distant jurisdiction, where a plaintiff may carry consequences, but the act was done in another jurisdiction.

#### ***Mallory v. Norfolk Southern R. Co., 2023 WL 4187749***

The United States Supreme Court ruled Norfolk Southern consented to jurisdiction of Pennsylvania state courts by way of Pennsylvania statute requiring corporations to register within the state.

#### **SC Code § 36-2-802 (2012)**

A court may exercise personal jurisdiction over a person domiciled in, organized under the laws

of, doing business, or maintaining his or its principal place of business in, this State as to any cause of action.

**S. C. Code 36-2-802 (2012)**.....

A court may exercise **personal jurisdiction** over a person domiciled in, organized under the laws of, doing business, or maintaining his or its principal place of business in, this State as to any cause of action.

**SC Code § 36-2-805 (2024)**

A court of this State may exercise jurisdiction on any other basis authorized by law.

### **DISCUSSION-JURISDICTION**

The United States Supreme Court ruled that corporations can now be required to consent to personal jurisdiction if they want to do any business within a state. This is no matter how small the business within the state may be and even if that small business had nothing to do with the plaintiff's claim as states may require an out-of-state corporation to consent to personal jurisdiction as part of registration to conduct any business within a state.

### **DISCUSSION-LONG ARM JURISDICTION**

To establish that personal jurisdiction is proper, one must assess the Long-Arm Statute of the State or Federal Court first and then move to assessing Due Process under the Constitution.

To Satisfy the Long-Arm Statute: (State of South Carolina): "A court may exercise personal jurisdiction over a person domiciled in, organized under the laws of, doing business, or maintaining his or its principal place of business in, this state as a cause of action.

S.C. §36-2-802.

Doing business in the state can constitute jurisdiction in the state. It would be unfair to permit a lawsuit in a distant jurisdiction, where a plaintiff may carry consequences, but the act was done in another jurisdiction. **Coggeshall v. Reproductive Endocrine Associates of Charlotte.**

### **DISCUSSION**

Yes, South Carolina require out-of-state companies to register as "foreign corporations" before conducting business in the state, obtaining a Certificate of Authority from the South Carolina Secretary of State. Out-of-state companies must also designate a registered agent in South Carolina to receive legal notices and other official communications.

### **DISCUSSION-Brittany Brittany Blantz**

**Brittany Blantz is the respondent property manager** designated as the registered agent in South Carolina to receive legal notices and other official communications in Columbia, SC.

**Summons and Complaint: The PS Form 3811 (September 25, 2023** was mailed back as for receipt of the certified mail that contained the summons and complaint. **Service was effected** September 25, 2023, through September 29, 2023.

Brittany Blantz and Nicole Martin both shared an office for the respondent in Columbia, Carolina. They are both property managers as general agents for Holder Properties.

The respondent and CMM Realty had a duty to return the certified mail that contained the summons and complaint to the post office. The respondent had the summons and complaint in their possession for a total of 261 days.

### Argument 3. Affidavit- intent was to under mind the Circuit Court

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

ABA Rule 4.1: Truthfulness in Statements to Other

ABA Rule 8.4: Misconduct-Maintaining the Integrity of The Profession

#### DISCUSSION

The rules of civil procedure are designed to ensure that both parties go to trial knowing what all evidence exists, rather than being sandbag by the opposing side by that with holds information and evidence.

#### DISCUSSION

Holder Properties and the University of South Carolina are listed under the same **Case 2023-CP-40-4408** in the summons and complaint. It is unimaginable that Holder Properties did not know of the existence of the lawsuits of both respondents in separate cases. **The respondent had a duty by law to return the certified mail that contained the summons and complaint to the post office.** The respondent had the summons and complaint for **a total of 261 days of 365 days in a year.**

#### DISCUSSION

The attorney hired by Holder Properties Catherine Griffin and Adam Sonenshine the general counsel have knowingly engaged in conduct unbecoming of the way lawyers are to practice their craft. have made multiple The respondent has conducted itself in ways that go against the American Bar Association Rules 4.1: Truthfulness in Statements.

## DISCUSSION-Affidavit

The appellant states the court should not have allowed the respondent to submit an affidavit to be used in court without notifications of its existence to the appellant. The judge should have granted continuance for the appellant to examine the affidavit.

## DISCUSSION-Affadavit of Adam Sonenshine

The respondent has conducted itself in ways that go against the American Bar Association Rules 4.1: Truthfulness in Statements. The attorney hired by Holder Properties Catherine Griffin and Adam Sonenshine the general counsel has knowingly engaged in conduct unbecoming of the way lawyers are to practice their craft. have made multiple false statements in the lower circuit court and now in the Appellate Court. Adam Sonenshine, the chief operating officer and general counsel for Respondent, averred that Holder Properties, Inc. he has never been served with the lawsuit. **CMM Realty Nikole Martin (she worked for CMM Realty when the certified mail arrived addressed only to the respondent.) The respondent hired Nikole Martin on Oct 2, 2023)**

**Proper Service was interrupted** by the Respondent and CMM Realty had a duty to return the certified mail that contained the summons and complaint to the post office. The respondent had the summons and complaint in their possession for **a total of 261 days.**

**Obstruction of Correspondence**-Respondent and CMM Realty Obstructed the Correspondence and tampered with the certified mail that contained the summons and complaint. The respondent had the summons and complaint in their possession for **a total of 261 days.**

**CMM Realty Nicole Martin (new hire for the Respondent) opened the certified mail that contained the summons and complaint.**

#### **Argument 4. Concealment of Nicole Martin**

##### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

American Bar Association

ABA Rule 4.1: Truthfulness in Statements to Other

ABA Rule 8.4: Misconduct-Maintaining the Integrity of The Profession

##### **DISCUSSION-Holder Properties**

Holder Properties and the University of South Carolina are listed as 2 defendants in the lawsuit in Case 2023-CP-40-4408. Holder Properties leases buildings to the University of South Carolina.

##### **DISCUSSION-Nicole Martin**

**Nicole Martin** is the most important person of the illegal intent to deceive the courts and violate the Due Process of the appellant.

1. **September 25-29, 2023** was the last work week with CMM Realty as a Property Manager. In seven days she would start employment with Holder Properties.
2. **October 2, 2023** new employment as a Property Manager with Holder Properties

**Nicole Martin** opened the certified mail that contained the summons and complaint. The respondent and CMM Realty had a duty to return the certified mail that contained the summons and complaint to the post office. The recipient on the certified mail is Holder Properties

1. No one knows what the contents are in the certified mail until its opened by Nicole Martin
2. Holder used this as an opportunity to say the wrong property management company was being served.

## **Argument 5. SUMMONS AND COMPLAINT**

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

**However, "[p]ro se litigants are allowed more latitude than litigants represented by counsel to correct defects in service of process and pleadings," Moore v. Agency for Int'l Dev., 994 F.2d 874, 876 (D.C.Cir. 1993).**

A courts equitable power is not bound by cast-iron rules but exist to do fairness and may be applied where it is justifiable under all the circumstances. **Burnette v, New York Cent. R. Co. 380 U.S 424, 428 (1965)**

**ABA Rule 4.1: Truthfulness in Statements to Other**

**ABA Rule 8.4: Misconduct-Maintaining the Integrity of The Profession**

## **DISCUSSION-Certified or Registered Mail**

South Carolina law allows service of a summons and complaint by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested. The return receipt serves as proof of service, demonstrating that the summons and complaint were received by the intended recipient. A person serving a summons can send it by certified mail, return receipt requested. In South Carolina a case is not automatically dismissed simply because it was served this way. The **PS Form 3811** is a valid **method for** summons and complaint by certified or registered mail, with return receipt requested. Service is considered effective on the date of delivery as shown on the return receipt (PS Form 3811). **Failure to prove service does not invalidate service.**

Courts generally prefer to resolve cases based on their actual merits rather than technicalities, such as improper service. If a plaintiff fails to properly serve a defendant, the court may give them an opportunity to correct the service before dismissing the case. This means the plaintiff can re-serve the defendant with proper procedures, allowing the case to proceed. In some cases, the court might dismiss the case without prejudice, meaning the plaintiff can refile the case after correcting the service issues.

**The appellant followed the SC Rules of Civil Procedure. The appellant was placed at a disadvantage with the handling of the certified mail that contained the summons and complaint intended for the respondent only.** The appellant states he should have been allowed the opportunity to re-Serve the respondent because the statute of limitation would have allowed enough time to re-serve the respondent. **Appellant states there were 25 days remaining to re-serve the respondent after the court ruling.**

## DISCUSSION

### HOLDER PROPERTIES -SUMMONS AND COMPLAINT

Holder Properties say they don't like the way they were served but again makes claim how do we know they were served. The certified-mail letter was addressed to the respondent Holder Properties. The respondent knows that ABA Rule 8.4 states It is professional misconduct for a lawyer to engage in conduct involving dishonesty, deceit or misrepresentation.

There is direct admission as to the knowledge of the summons and complaint when the following claims were being made: Holder Properties had the summons and complaint in their possession for **a total of 261 days of 365 days in a year.**

1. This is a direct admission they were in possession of the summons and complaint
2. Nicole Martin was given permission to open the certified mail listing the recipient as her new employer Holder Properties.
3. **The respondent had a duty by law to return the certified mail that contained the summons and complaint to the post office.** Holder Properties next makes reference that suggested the wrong property management

company was being served. Nicole Martin opened the certified mail that contained the summons and complaint.

1. The recipient on the certified mail is Holder Properties
2. No one knows what the contents are in the certified mail until its opened.
3. Holder used this as an opportunity to say the wrong property management company was being served.

## **DISCUSSION-Handling of Summons and Complaint**

**Proper Service was interrupted** by the **Respondent and CMM Realty had a duty to return the certified mail that contained the summons and complaint to the post office.**

The respondent had the summons and complaint for **a total of 261 days of 365 days in a year.**

**Brittany McJunkin** signed for the certified mail that contained the summons and complaint.

The respondent and CMM Realty had a duty to return the certified mail that contained the summons and complaint to the post office.

**Nikole Martin - CMM Realty Property Manager obstructed correspondence when she opened** the certified mail that contained the summons and complaint. The respondent and **CMM Realty** had a duty by law to return the certified mail that contained the summons and complaint to the post office.

**Brittany Blantz- The respondent authorized agent to sign for legal documents** for Columbia, South Carolina Operations received the opened certified mail that contained the summons and complaint from **Nikole Martin.**

Brittany Blantz and Nicole Martin both share an office for the respondent in Columbia, Carolina.

They are both property managers as general agents for Holder Properties.

The respondent had the summons and complaint in their possession for **a total of 261 days.**

**The respondent and CMM Realty had a duty to return the certified mail that contained the summons and complaint to the post office.**

**Adam Sonenshine is the** General Counsel that received the summons and complaint from Brittany Blantz.

1. He received the summons and complaint from Brittany Blantz a property manager for Holder Properties in Columbia, South Carolina that reports directly to him.

2. He hired Nicole Martin in September 2023 that was employed at CMM Realty with a start date of October 2, 2023 as listed on her Indeed work experience.

The respondent had the summons and complaint for **a total of 261 days of 365 days in a year.**

## **Argument 6. Commencement of Action- Summons and Complaint**

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

#### **South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure**

1. **Rule 3**
2. **Rule 4 (a)(b)(d)(8)(g)**

#### **USPS POSTAL SERVICE 602**

### **DISCUSSION**

The appellant followed Rule 3 for Commencement of Action.

- c. **Commencement of civil action.** A civil action is commenced when the summons and complaint are filed with the clerk of court.
- d. The summons and complaint was served within the time frame of the statute of limitations in manner prescribed by law.

The appellant followed Rule 4 for Process.

**Rule (a) Summons: Issuance.** The summons shall be issued by plaintiff or plaintiff's attorney. Copies of the original summons shall be served upon each defendant.

**Rule (b) Same: Form.** The summons shall be signed by the plaintiff or his attorney, contain, **be**

**directed to the defendant.**

**Service is perfected five days** after its deposit in the United States mail, as evidenced by the postmark,

1. **September 21, 2023**, all summons and complaints were mailed by certified mail.

**Service was effected September 25, 2023, through September 29, 2023.**

**September 25, 2023, The PS Form 3811** was mailed back as for receipt of the certified mail that contained the summons and complaint. **A copy of the return receipt or returned envelope when received showing whether the mailing was accepted, refused, or otherwise returned.**

**Argument 7. THERE WAS NO WRITTEN AGREEMENT TO SERVE  
THE APPELLANT BY EMAIL**

**DISCUSSION-NO CONSENT TO BE SERVED BY EMAIL**

Appellant states that the South Carolina Appellate Court Rule 613(d) states that a self-represented litigant who is not a lawyer admitted to practice in this state may consent in writing to be served by e-mail and designate a correct e-mail address for service.

## CONCLUSION

The circuit court erred in dismissal of the complaint for insufficient service of process the consequent lack of personal jurisdiction. The respondent has intentionally concealing the existence of the summons and complaint to violate the Due Process to the appellant in court.

The appellant wants the court to overturn the decision of the circuit court's order and allow a trial based on the merits of the case. The respondent should not have been allowed to use a last-minute effort of use of an affidavit not seen by the appellant.

Rule 4 (g). Failure to make proof of service does not affect the validity of the service.

For an award of \$300,000 for pain and suffering and loss of enjoyment of life, emotional distress, and mental anguish (past, present and future).

For a court order granting default judgement to the appellant in the amount of \$300,000.

Catherine Garbee Griffin  
3710 Landmark Drive, Suite 400  
PO Box 8057  
Columbia, South Carolina 29202  
803-799-9091

**Attorney for Holder Properties**

David DeMasters  
2838 Devine Street  
Columbia, South Carolina 29205  
803-799-9993

**Attorney for University of South Carolina**

Damon Christian Wlodarczyk  
PO Box 12009  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
**Attorney for University of South Carolina**

---

Kamarah Reynolds-Hall  
5 Alatera Court  
Columbia, South Carolina 29229  
803-237-6057

**PRO SE**

Injustice University of South Carolina by Travis  
Hall Part 1 of 17 - Sports To 1  
<https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=...>



Injustice University of South Carolina by Travis  
Hall Part 7 of 17 - Vietnam Memorial Confirms  
Assault  
<https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=...>



Injustice University of South Carolina by Travis  
Hall Part 13 of 17 - Fifth Circuit Solicitor  
<https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=...>



Injustice University of South Carolina by Travis  
Hall Part 2 of 17 - Lured  
<https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=...>



Injustice University of South Carolina by Travis  
Hall Part 8 of 17 - Alyssa Blue  
<https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=...>



Injustice University of South Carolina by Travis  
Hall Part 14 of 17 - Deputy Circuit Solicitor  
<https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=...>



Injustice University of South Carolina by Travis  
Hall Part 3 of 17 - Quoted  
<https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=...>



Injustice University of South Carolina by Travis  
Hall Part 9 of 17 - James Miles and Travis Hall  
<https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=...>