**RECEIVED**

**Mar 31 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
C/A No. 2023-CP-40-04408  
Daniel Coble, Circuit Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2024-001242

---

Kamarah Reynolds-Hall..... Appellant,

v.

Jammie Robinson, John Dixon, Dominic Hill, Joseph Hunter, Anthony (AJ) Lawson, Javon Benson, Jahmar Brown, Cincere Scott, Jasmine Alexander-Coleman, Holder Properties, University of South Carolina, .....Defendants,

of whom University of South Carolina and Holder Properties, Inc., are..... Respondents,

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH CAROLINA**

---

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE ON APPEAL**

The Trial Court's granting of the motion to dismiss as to Respondent University of South Carolina ("USC") should be affirmed. As set forth herein, Appellant's claims are barred by the applicable statute of limitations, and further, Appellant is not entitled to equitable tolling.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On August 22, 2023, Kamarah Reynolds-Hall, a former student and an aspiring athlete at the University of South Carolina ("USC"), filed a complaint *pro se* in the Richland County Court of Common Pleas, naming several individuals, USC, and Holder Properties, Inc. ("Holder") as the defendants. (Compl. p. 1.) Reynolds-Hall alleged that student-athletes Jammie Robinson, John Dixon, Dominic Hill, Joseph Hunter, Anthony Lawson, and Javon Benson, along with several other USC students, formed a mob and assaulted him on USC's property. (Compl. ¶¶ 1–29, pp. 1–4.) According to Reynolds-Hall's allegations, USC engaged in a cover up in order to protect its student athletes. (Compl. ¶¶ 13, 15, 30, 31, pp. 2, 4.) In the documents attached to the Complaint, Plaintiff states that "the video evidence was assembled by the victim father once the Discovery was released 7 months later March 2021." In response to the Complaint, USC filed the subject motion to dismiss and asserted that Appellant's pleading was time-barred as it was filed more than two (2) years after the allegations in the Complaint occurred.

On July 9, 2024, the Honorable Daniel Coble, Circuit Judge, heard USC's based on the statute-of-limitations defense. (Tr. p. 1.) After taking the matter under advisement, Judge Coble granted the motions by a Form 4 Order dated July 15, 2024.

On July 29, 2025, the court issued two formal orders: one dismissing the complaint as to Holder Properties, Inc. (Order); and one granting USC's motion to dismiss. (Ord. Granting USC's Mtn. to Dismiss.) This appeal followed.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

On appeal from the dismissal of a case pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), an appellate court applies the same standard of review as the circuit court. *Rydde v. Morris*, 381 S.C. 643, 646, 675 S.E.2d 431, 433 (2009). The ruling on a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss must be based solely upon the allegations set forth on the face of the complaint. *Stiles v. Onorato*, 318 S.C. 297, 300, 457 S.E.2d 601, 602 (1995). A 12(b)(6) motion should not be granted if facts alleged and inferences reasonably deducible therefrom would entitle the plaintiff to any relief on any theory of the case. *Plyler v. Burns*, 373 S.C. 637, 645, 647 S.E.2d 188, 192 (2007).

When reviewing a dismissal for failure to state a claim, an appellate court applies the same standard as the trial court – the pleadings are construed liberally, and all well-pled facts are presumed true. *Doe v. Bishop of Charleston*, 407 S.C. 128, 134, 754 S.E.2d 105, 109 (2013). The court need not, however, presume the truth of the allegations pled merely in conclusory fashion or stating legal conclusions. *HHHunt Corp. v. Town of Lexington*, 389 S.C. 623, 635, 699 S.E.2d 705 (Ct. App. 2010). Under this standard, a claim should be dismissed when the facts alleged in the complaint do not support relief. *Brouwer v. Sisters of Charity Providence Hospital*, 409 S.C. 514, 519, 763 S.E.2d 200, 202 (2014).

## ARGUMENT

### **I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY GRANTED RESPONDENT’S MOTION TO DISMISS BY FINDING THAT APPELLANT’S CLAIMS WERE BARRED BY THE APPLICABLE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS**

As alleged in the Complaint, Appellant’s purported claims against Respondent USC arose due to an alleged assault and failure to investigate that occurred on August 23, 2020.

The Tort Claims Act “constitutes the exclusive remedy for any tort committed by an employee of a governmental entity.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-70(a). Under the Tort Claims Act,

the statute of limitations for suit against a state agency or its employees is two years after the “date the loss was or should have been discovered.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-110. If the action is not brought within the required statute of limitations it is “forever barred.” *Id.*

A loss should be discovered when the “circumstances would put a person of common knowledge and experience on notice that some right has been invaded, or that some claim against another party might exist.” *Joubert v. DSS*, 341 S.C. 176, 191, 534 S.E.2d 1, 9 (Ct. App. 2000). “The important date under the discovery rule is the date that a plaintiff discovers the injury, not the date of the discovery of the identity of [the] wrongdoer.” *Wiggins v. Edwards*, 314 S.C. 126, 128, 442 S.E.2d 169, 170 (1994).

In examining when the statute of limitations began to run, the discovery rule applies. *Young v. South Carolina Dept. of Corrections*, 333 S.C. 714, 718, 511 S.E.2d 413, 415 (Ct. App. 1999) (holding that the discovery rule applies to actions brought under the South Carolina Tort Claims Act).

According to the discovery rule, the statute of limitations begins to run when a cause of action reasonably ought to have been discovered. The statute runs from the date the injured party knows or should have known by the exercise of reasonable diligence that a cause of action arises from the wrongful conduct.

....

[T]he injured party must act with some promptness where the facts and circumstances of an injury place a reasonable person of common knowledge and experience on *notice* that a claim against another party might exist. Moreover, the fact that the injured party may not comprehend the full extent of the damage is immaterial.

*Id.* at 719, 511 S.E.2d at 416 (quoting *Dean v. Ruscon Corp.*, 321 S.C. 360, 364, 468 S.E.2d 645, 647 (1996) (citations omitted) (emphasis in original)). *See also Joubert*, 341 S.C. at 190, 534 S.E.2d at 8 (finding that the statute of limitations under the South Carolina Tort Claims Act begins to run “when the plaintiff should know that he might have a potential claim against

another, not when he develops a full-blown theory of recovery”). The date when the discovery should have been made is an objective question. *Young*, 333 S.C. at 719, 511 S.E.2d at 416.

“[W]hether the particular plaintiff actually knew he had a claim is not the test. Rather, courts must decide whether the circumstances of the case would put a person of common knowledge and experience on notice that some right of his had been invaded or that some claim against another party might exist.”

*Id.*

The incident that is the subject of the complaint occurred on August 23, 2020 and even Appellant admits that the “video evidence” was obtained in March of 2021. In his memorandum to deny USC’s motion to dismiss filed on July 5, 2024, Appellant argued that the statute of limitations should be extended due to “Covid-19 Pandemic” and that equitable tolling should be allowed. Appellant clearly knew the cause of loss on August 23, 2020 and the two-year period should begin on that date. *Bayle v. S.C. Dep’t of Trans.*, 344 S.C. 115, 121, 542 S.E.2d 736, 739 (Ct. App. 2001) (the two-year period begins the date of loss regardless of whether plaintiff knew the cause of the loss.). However, even if the March of 2021 date is used, Appellant’s claims against USC are still time-barred.

The Trial Court therefore correctly ruled that Appellant’s claims are barred by the applicable statute of limitations. As such, the Trial Court’s Order granting USC’s motion to dismiss should be affirmed.

## **II. APPELLANT WAS NOT ENTITLED TO EQUITABLE TOLLING**

“[E]quitable tolling is a doctrine that should be used sparingly and only when the interests of justice compel its use.” *Hooper v. Ebenezer Senior Servs. & Rehab. Ctr.*, 386 S.C. 108, 117, 687 S.E.2d 29, 33 (2009). “The party claiming the statute of limitations should be tolled bears the burden of establishing sufficient facts to justify its use.” *Id.* at 115, 687 S.E.2d at 32. “[F]or equitable estoppel to apply, a plaintiff must be aware that a claim might exist prior to

the expiration of the statute of limitations, but due to some conduct or representation by the defendant, the plaintiff is induced ... to delay in filing suit.” *Kelly v. Logan, Jolley, & Smith, L.L.P.*, 383 S.C. 626, 639, 682 S.E.2d 1, 8 (Ct. App. 2009).


Appellant has not met his burden establishing that equitable tolling is required. There is no evidence of any conduct by USC or any of its employees inducing Appellant to delay filing his lawsuit. As a result, equitable tolling does not apply and the Trial Court’s Order granting USC’s motion to dismiss should be affirmed.

**CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent USC respectfully requests this Court to affirm the Trial Court’s Order granting the motion to dismiss and dismiss this action.